IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC-01-1874

LANCELOT URILEY ARMSTRONG,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Terri L. Backhus Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0946427

Rachel L. Day Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0068535

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Ave., #400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 7, 1990, an indictment was handed down charging Mr.

Armstrong with one count of first-degree murder, one count of attempted first-degree murder and one count of robbery (R. 2061).

Mr. Armstrong's jury trial on these charges commenced on April 1, 1991 and concluded on June 20, 1991 (R. 490, 2059). The jury found Mr. Armstrong guilty on all counts and as to count one, recommended

that he be sentenced to death. (R. 1777, 1954). Giving the jury's recommendation great weight, the court followed the recommendation and sentenced Mr. Armstrong to death on count one. (R. 2420) The court also sentenced Mr. Armstrong to life imprisonment on counts two and three. (R. 2423, 2426)

Mr. Armstrong unsuccessfully appealed his convictions and sentences. Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Armstrong filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on April 24, 1995. Armstrong v. Florida, 115 S. Ct. 1799 (1995).

Mr. Armstrong filed a motion to vacate judgments of convictions and sentences pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 on March 19, 1997.(PC-R.89-296) Following public records litigation, Mr. Armstrong filed an amended motion on April 24, 2000. (PC-R.297-428). Following a <u>Huff</u> hearing the lower court entered an order granting a limited evidentiary hearing on Mr. Armstrong's claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel at the penalty phase and on his claim pursuant to <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u> 108 S. Ct. 1981 (1988), but summarily denied all his other claims. (PC-R. 6432-658).

An evidentiary hearing was held before the lower court on March 21-23, 2001. Mr. Armstrong presented testimony of trial counsel, Edward Malavenda, four mental health experts, a Jamaican cultural expert, and numerous family members and friends, demonstrating both

the deficient performance and the prejudice prongs required by Strickland v. Washington to show ineffective assistance of counsel.
Mr. Armstrong also filed with the Court a copy of the order vacating
Mr. Armstrong's prior invalid Massachusetts conviction for indecent assault.

The lower court entered an order denying post-conviction relief. (PCR. 777-805). Mr. Armstrong then filed a timely motion for rehearing (PCR.806-815) which was denied on July 24, 2001 (PCR.824). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. The lower court misconstrued the law and misunderstood the facts in erroneously denying Mr. Armstrong's postconviction motion because trial counsel unreasonably failed to investigate and present evidence of Mr. Armstrong's childhood trauma, poverty, brain damage, PTSD and other mental health issues which would have supported statutory and non-statutory mitigation. Mr. Armstrong's counsel was constitutionally deficient and ineffective. This evidence was not rebutted by State witnesses. Furthermore, the trial court's finding that Mr. Armstrong's prior Massachusetts conviction was unconstitutional entitles Mr. Armstrong to a new penalty phase pursuant to Johnson v. Mississippi, 108 S. Ct. 1981 (1988). The trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law were legally and factually incorrect.

- 2. Mr. Armstrong was erroneously denied a full and fair evidentiary hearing on all claims relating to the guilt phase of his capital trial. Mr. Armstrong pleaded specific facts, including claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, newly-discovered evidence and <u>Brady</u> claims that were legally sufficient and were not refuted by the record. The hearing court erred in summarily denying these claims.
- 3. Mr. Armstrong has been denied access to the files and records in the possession of certain state agencies which pertain to his case. The trial court erred by refusing to hear Mr. Armstrong's first motion to compel production of public records.
- 4. Mr. Armstrong is innocent of first degree murder and of the death penalty. The summary denial of this claims without a cumulative error analysis was error.
- 5. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Armstrong's claim that constitutional error occurred during the jury instructions and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object. These errors include, including the majority verdict instruction, the burden-shifting instruction, and the automatic felony aggravating circumstance.
- 6. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Armstrong's claim that the State improperly introduced non-statutory aggravating circumstances to the jury.

- 7. The hearing court erred in failing to allow an evidentiary hearing on the claim that Mr. Armstrong was absent from critical stages of the trial.
- 8. Mr. Armstrong's convictions and sentences were illegally imposed in violation of international law. The hearing court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on this issue.
- 9. Execution by lethal injection and electrocution constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.
- 10. The prohibition against Mr. Armstrong's defense counsel interviewing jurors is unconstitutional and fundamentally unfair.
 - 11. Mr. Armstrong is insane to be executed.
- 12. The hearing court's failure to conduct a proper cumulative error analysis and the court's failure to consider the effects of those errors on the jury deprived Mr. Armstrong of due process and a meaningful review of his appellate postconviction issues.

ARGUMENT I

THE HEARING COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT SENTENCING PHASE RELIEF AFTER AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING WHEN MR. ARMSTRONG'S DEATH SENTENCE WAS BASED ON AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL PRIOR CONVICTION AND INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The lower court misunderstood and misinterpreted the facts and law evidence presented at Mr. Armstrong's evidentiary hearing. Mr. Armstrong established that he received ineffective assistance of counsel in that his trial counsel failed to adequately investigate and prepare mitigating evidence at penalty phase. The evidence also showed that Mr. Armstrong was entitled to a resentencing because his penalty phase jury weighed an invalid aggravating circumstance under Johnson v. Mississippi, 108 S. Ct. 1981 (1988). Mr. Armstrong established by stipulation of counsel and current legal authority that his prior conviction in Massachusetts of indecent assault and battery of a child under the age of 14 was overturned and rendered unconstitutionally invalid. Contrary to the hearing court's findings, Mr. Armstrong is entitled to a resentencing before a newly empaneled jury.

A. The Johnson v. Mississippi Claim

Mr. Armstrong was convicted of indecent assault and battery of a child of 14 years, a felony, in Dorchester District Court, Boston, Massachusetts, in 1985. At his murder trial, Mr. Satz used this prior conviction to support the aggravating circumstance of prior violent felony (R. 1931). The State presented the testimony of two

witnesses to prove this aggravating factor, Rose Flynch, the victim (R. 1838-1857) and John Clough, assistant clerk magistrate for Dorchester District Court in Massachusetts (R. 1825-1837).

Ms. Flynch testified that Mr. Armstrong took her to a park and asked her to get in the driver's seat. She said Mr. Armstrong reclined the seat and got on top of her (R. 1842). She told him to stop but he told her to be quiet and eventually got off her and took a Kleenex from the glove compartment to wipe "white stuff" from his hands (R. 1843).

Ms. Flynch then testified that Mr. Armstrong drove her back to his apartment where his pregnant wife Angela was resting. Ms. Flynch testified that while Angela was resting, Mr. Armstrong pushed Ms. Flynch down on the couch and got on top of her again (R. 1845). He told her not to scream then lifted up her night gown and put his penis inside her (R. 1845). Ms. Flynch testified that Mr. Armstrong laid there for a while then got up. She locked herself in the bathroom (R. 1846). Ms. Flynch said she was a virgin and had never had sex before (R. 1847). She said she did not tell Angela because Lance had told her it would hurt the baby (R. 1847). This testimony was unrebutted.

During closing argument, Mr. Satz argued to the jury that Mr. Armstrong should be put to death because of his prior violent felony against Rose Flynch (R. 1932). The jury considered this argument and

the testimony of both Massachusetts witnesses. There is no way of knowing what weight the jury gave this testimony. The jury recommended death by a vote of 9 to 3.

In sentencing Mr. Armstrong to death, Judge Coker specifically relied on Ms. Flynch's testimony in finding the prior violent felony aggravator (R. 2054).

The testimony of Rose Flynch supports the allegation of Indecent Assault and Battery upon a Child of Fourteen Years.

* * *

At the bifurcated portion of the trial, the Court and the jury heard from eleven witnesses.

The State called John Clough, Assistant Clerk Magistrate of Boston, Massachusetts, regarding the felony conviction of the Defendant in 1985 concerning an indecent assault and battery of a fourteen-year old female, Rose Flynch.

Ms. Flynch also testified concerning the sexual assault upon her by the Defendant.

Sentencing Order at page 5 (R. 2433)

In early 1997, CCR took over representation of Mr. Armstrong after direct appeal and certiorari had been denied. During the course of raising Mr. Armstrong's post-conviction appeal, Linda McDermott, Assistant CCR understood that the prior violent felony aggravator could be challenged because it was used against Mr. Armstrong at his capital trial and assisted the prosecution in obtaining a death sentence. Upon reviewing the information from Massachusetts, it appeared that Mr. Armstrong's conviction violated

his constitutional rights.

Ms. McDermott contacted Susan Murphy an attorney in Massachusetts and sought her assistance in challenging Mr. Armstrong's conviction.

On March 3, 1999, Judge M. Zaleski in Boston, Massachusetts overturned Mr. Armstrong's conviction in <u>Commonwealth v. Lancelot Armstrong</u>, Case No. 53211 finding that:

The Court finds that defendant did not have a trial or plea guilty nor was he informed of his right to a trial, to confront his accusers and against self-incrimination. Commonwealth failed to meet its burden after defendant presented credible evidence to challenge the presumption of regularity (Commonwealth v. Lopez, 526 Mass. 657 (1998).

See, Stipulation1 (T. 6)

Both parties to this case entered a stipulation on March 20, 2001 which was accepted by this Court that Mr. Armstrong's prior conviction in Commonwealth of Massachusetts v. Lancelot Armstrong, Case No. 53011 was found to be unconstitutionally invalid by Judge M. Zaliski on March 3, 1991.

At Mr. Armstrong's penalty phase, the jury was not only presented with Mr. Armstrong's Massachusetts conviction, but bombarded with inflammatory testimony of the fourteen-year old victim. Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this testimony, and for failing to adequately challenge the evidence

presented by the state.¹ Because the jury was irretrievably tainted by evidence of an invalid conviction, Mr. Armstrong argued to the hearing court that he was entitled to a new sentencing hearing.

The overturning of Mr. Armstrong's Massachusetts conviction rendered Mr. Armstrong's death sentence invalid, in violation of state and federal due process which results in an infected and unreliable death sentence, and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment and Johnson v. Mississippi, 108 S. Ct. 1981 (1988).

At the evidentiary hearing, the State argued that the hearing court should deny relief because Mr. Armstrong did not exercise due diligence in challenging his prior conviction, and that a harmless error analysis could be applied to Mr. Armstrong's claim because there were two other prior violent felonies to support the aggravating factor (PCR. 1430). These two felonies were committed simultaneous with the first-degree murder case. They were the first-degree attempted murder of Officer Sallustio and the robbery of Kengeral Allen. The State also entered into evidence an armed robbery conviction from June, 26, 1991, in which Mr. Armstrong was

¹To the extent this claim was not preserved by trial or appellate counsel, Mr. Armstrong received ineffective assistance. Mr. Armstrong's capital conviction and sentence of death are the resulting prejudice. <u>Harris v. Dugger</u>, 874 F.2d 756 (11th Cir. 1989). The jury did not receive adequate information about the case due to counsel's failures.

sentenced **after** he was tried on the instant case. The State's argument is that if the judge granted a new sentencing because of the invalid prior violent felony aggravator, the State could introduce that conviction in support of the prior violent felony aggravator at a resentencing (PC-R. 54-57). The State argued that the inclusion of an illegal Massachusetts conviction would be harmless.

The hearing court agreed and held in its findings of fact and conclusions of law that it chose to take a "path that has not yet been traveled" and find that the possibility that the State could admit another prior violent felony made the constitutional error harmless. (PCR-790) Thus, the hearing court recognizing that the law was contrary to his position, chose to ignore it because it believed absent the constitutional error Mr. Armstrong would still be sentenced to death.

The law on unconstitutional aggravating factors is wellsettled. Johnson v. Mississippi addresses both the diligence and
the harmless error arguments. In Johnson's case, his 1963 New York
conviction was declared invalid and he filed a postconviction motion
in Mississippi asking for a new sentencing proceeding. Mr. Johnson
did not challenge his New York conviction until 1982. The
Mississippi prosecutors argued that a procedural bar should be
applied because the conviction could have been challenged earlier.
The United State Supreme Court rejected that argument stating:

We cannot conclude that the procedural bar relied on by the Mississippi Supreme Court in this case has been consistently or regularly applied. Consequently, under federal law, it is not an adequate and independent state ground for affirming petitioner's conviction.

<u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 108 S. Ct. at 1988.

Florida courts have not regularly or consistently applied a procedural bar in these circumstances. See, <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1993); <u>Preston v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1990).

In addressing the harmless error issue, the United States Supreme Court said:

First, the Mississippi Supreme Court expressly refused to rely on harmless-error analysis in upholding petitioner's sentence, 511 So. 2d at 1338. On the facts of this case, that refusal was plainly justified. Second, and more importantly, the error here extended beyond the mere invalidation of an aggravating circumstance supported by evidence that was otherwise admissible. Here the jury was allowed to consider evidence that has been revealed to be materially inaccurate.

Johnson v. Mississippi, 108 S. Ct. at 1988.

Likewise in <u>Duest v. Singletary</u>, 997 F. 2d 1336 (11th Cir. 1993), the 11th Circuit twice visited the issue of whether a harmless error analysis could be applied in Mr. Duest's case. The State in <u>Duest</u> argued that absent the <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u> error Mr. Duest would have still received the death penalty. The 11th Circuit rejected that argument twice; once under the harmless error analysis in <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) and once under the harmless error analysis under <u>Brecht v. Abrahamson</u>, 507 U.S. 619 (1993). In rejecting this argument, the 11th Circuit relied heavily

on <u>Kotteakos v. United States</u>, 328 U.S. 750 (1946), it said:

As Justice Rutledge explained in Kotteakos, the issue is not were [the jurors] right in their judgment, regardless of the error or its effect upon the verdict. It is rather what effect the error had or reasonably may have had upon the jury's decision. The crucial thing is the impact of the thing done wrong on the minds of other men [or women], not on one's own, in the total setting...

[I]f one cannot say, with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without stripping the erroneous action from the whole, that the judgment was not substantially swayed by the error, it is impossible to conclude that substantial rights were not affected. The inquiry can not be merely whether there was enough to support the result, apart from the phase affected by the error. It is rather, even so, whether the error itself had substantial influence. If so, or if one is left in grave doubt, the conviction cannot stand.

<u>Duest v. Singletary</u>, 997 F. 2nd at 1338-39 (emphasis supplied).

The central issue becomes whether or not the error in Mr. Armstrong's case is a "structural defect" or simply trial error. Structural defects are not subject to a harmless error analysis. See, <u>Arizona v. Fulminante</u>, 499 U.S. 279 (1991). The 11th Circuit analyzed Mr.

Duest's claim under this standard and reversed the case. Therefore, the lower court's analysis in Mr. Armstrong's case is not only wrong but contrary to existing law. The lower court should have assessed the impact of the illegal aggravator without considering what could be presented at a resentencing. Cf. <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1993); <u>Preston v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1990). The reason this "path has not been traveled" is because the courts have

recognized that it cannot predict, assess or forecast the impact of a victim's testimony on the jury.

Here, the court failed to consider the effect of Massachusetts victim had on the jury. In its order and at the evidentiary hearing, the court cited Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d. 980 (Fla. 2001) to support its deviation from the law. Rogers does not deal with an invalid prior conviction. It addresses the consideration of subsequent convictions in conducting a harmless error analysis. This Court held:

We cannot speculate as to what evidence would be admitted in a subsequent penalty phase hearing. Instead, we must determine whether the erroneous admission of the misdemeanor conviction prejudiced Rogers to such an extent that he could not receive a fair trial.

Rogers v. State, supra.

Ultimately, this Court concluded that there was no abuse of discretion in Rogers because the trial judge specifically instructed the jury to disregard the testimony of the two State witnesses who referred to the invalid misdemeanor conviction; the prosecution did not refer to the witnesses' testimony during closing argument; the court did not instruct the jury on any aggravating circumstances other than pecuniary gain and HAC; and the trial judge specifically stated that he would not consider the evidence in weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Id.

This is not true in Mr. Armstrong's case. First, the invalid

prior conviction was a felony, not a misdemeanor. Second, the jury and judge considered the facts of the Massachusetts case in detail. The judge specifically referred to Ms. Flynch's testimony in his sentencing order. The error cannot be harmless under these circumstances.

Further, the lower court's denial of relief is based upon erroneous assumptions that (a) some evidence of the subsequent conviction would be admitted and weighed by the jury against all the mitigation demonstrated by Mr. Armstrong at his post conviction evidentiary hearing; and (b) that the facts of the subsequent conviction would weigh as heavily as those of the invalid Massachusetts conviction. Under Johnson, Duest and Rivera, the courts have never made those assumptions. Nor should the Court do it now.

At the evidentiary hearing, the State presented no evidence of the subsequent conviction other than a certified copy of the conviction itself. It is impossible to determine the weight that a hypothetical future jury might place on a certified copy of a robbery conviction.

By contrast, at the penalty phase of Mr. Armstrong's capital trial, the State presented the victim of the Massachusetts crime vividly explaining her ordeal. Ms. Flynch's testimony left the jury with the impression that Mr. Armstrong had not only committed a

murder of a police officer during the course of a robbery, but that he was a dangerous and violent child molester. This testimony was unrebutted. The bald certified copy of the subsequent robbery conviction pales in comparison with the testimony of a fourteen-year old sexual battery victim.

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