### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LANCELOT URILEY ARMSTRONG,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 01-1874

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLIE CRIST ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO.0656879 1515 N. FLAGLER DR. SUITE 900 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (561)-837-5000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - The trial court properly found the <u>Johnson v</u>. <u>Mississippi</u> error to be harmless. The court also correctly concluded that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase.

Issue II - The trial court properly denied without an evidentiary hearing appellant's claims that trial counsel was ineffective at the guilt phase.

Issue III - The trial court correctly concluded that appellant had waived any further issue regarding outstanding public records requests.

Issue IV - The trial court properly found appellant's constitutional challenge to the penalty phase jury instructions was procedurally barred. The court also correctly found that appellant's claim that his sentence of death was disproportionate was procedurally barred.

Issue V - The trial court correctly found that appellant's constitutional challenge to the penalty phase jury instructions was procedurally barred

Issue VI - Appellant's claim that the state introduced nonstatutory aggravating circumstances was procedurally barred.

Issue VII - Appellant's claim that he was absent from a critical stage of the proceedings was procedurally barred and legally insufficient as pled.

Issue VIII - Appellant's claim that his conviction and sentence are in violation of international law is procedurally barred.

Issue IX - Appellant's constitutional claim that Florida's death penalty scheme is cruel and unusual punishment is procedurally barred.

Issue X - Appellant's challenge to the prohibition against juror interviews is procedurally barred.

Issue XI -Appellant's claim that he is insane to be executed in legally insufficient as pled

Issue XII - Appellant's claim that his trial was fraught with cumulative error is without merit.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

ARMSTRONG HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED THAT HE IS ENTITLED TO RELIEF UNDER <u>JOHNSON v.</u> <u>MISSISSIPPI</u> AS HE FAILED TO OVERCOME THE PROCEDURAL BAR; AND ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT

In 1991, at the penalty phase of Armstrong's capital trial, the state presented evidence in support of the aggravating factor of "prior violent felony."<sup>1</sup> Three prior felonies were offered as proof of the existence of the aggravator. Two of those felonies involved the contemporaneous convictions for crimes against two additional victims. The first was for the attempted first degree murder of Officer Robert Sallustio. Sallustio was the partner of the slain officer John Greeney who along with Greeney responded to the robbery scene at Church's Fried Chicken. The second felony was for the robbery of Kenegral Allen, an employee of the Church' Fried Chicken. (ROA 2430). The third prior violent felony offered was Armstrong's 1985 guilty plea to indecent assault of a fourteen year old, Rose Flynch. (ROA 2433). Ms. Flynch testified at the penalty phase. (ROA 1838-1856). The trial court relied upon all three prior convictions in support of the aggravator. (ROA 2430).

In 1998 Armstrong's plea to the indecent assault was vacated. Consequently Armstrong amended his motion for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 921.141(5)(b). <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat.</u>

postconviction relief raising a claim pursuant to Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988). Armstrong asked the trial court to reverse his sentence of death based on the state's use of that now vacated guilty plea. Armstrong contended that the Johnson v. Mississippi violation in the instant case amounted to a "structural defect", and therefore, the error could not be considered harmless.<sup>2</sup> In response the state argued that this issue was procedurally barred as a challenge to the now thirteen year old guilty plea could have and should have been made at the Armstrong's capital trial. Irrespective of time of the procedural bar, the state also argued that any error in relying on the indecent assault conviction was harmless as (1) there was no undue emphasis placed on the indecent assault conviction; (2) there were still two much more serious violent felony convictions to establish the aggravator; (3), the jury was correctly instructed that any one of the three standing alone would satisfy the aggravator; and (4) the trial court could now consider as an additional prior violent felony, Armstrong's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Additionally Appellant claims that the trial court's harmless error analysis is flawed because the state did not present the court with any evidence regarding the facts surrounding the prior robbery conviction. Appellant claims that the state relied only upon a certified copy of the conviction. **Initial brief at 13.** Appellant's argument is disingenuous and a misrepresentation of the record. The state <u>over the</u> <u>defendant's objection</u>, was allowed to present to the court not only a certified copy of the conviction but a copy of the entire clerk's file as well. (PCR 1441-1447). Therein, the details of the robbery conviction are documented. (SR-PCR 398-896).

conviction for an armed robbery that occurred thirteen days before the instant robbery/murder. Armstrong was convicted of the additional robbery six days after he was sentenced in the instant case. (PCR 715-728, SR-PCR 398-400).

Relying on <u>Duest v. State</u>, 555 So. 2d 849, 851 (Fla. 1990), the trial court rejected the state's argument that the issue was procedurally barred. However the trial court also rejected Armstrong's claim that the error amounted to a "structural defect" and therefore not subject to a traditional harmless error analysis. Additionally, in finding the <u>Johnson</u> error to be harmless, the trial court relied on the additional 1991 conviction for armed robbery of a convenience store. Initially the trial court expressed concern regarding its authority to consider the subsequent robbery conviction. The court was troubled by language in <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 783 So. 2d 980, 1001 (Fla. 2001) wherein this Court refused to "speculate" what evidence may come in at a subsequent hearing. (PCR-1442-1445). <u>Id</u>. However the court properly distinguished <u>Rogers</u> and found the <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, error to be harmless:

> In analyzing the holding in <u>Rogers</u>, this Court notes that the <u>Rogers</u> Court was limited in its review to the record on direct appeal. The subsequent first-degree murder conviction was not a part of that record. Therefore, any consideration of the subsequent conviction by the Supreme Court would by necessity require speculation, which the Court said it could not do.

The instant case presents an entirely different factual scenario. Armstrong, is currently back before this circuit court for а determination of is motion for postconviction relief. The circuit court has the authority to order an evidentiary hearing on the motion. Fla. R. Crim. P. After holding a Huff hearing, 3.850(d). this court ordered and conducted an evidentiary hearing. The state presented evidence that the Defendant had committed an armed robbery at a convenience store thirteen days prior to the robbery/murder in the instant case. See State's Exhibits 12 The same type of firearm was used and 13. in both crimes. A firearm was discharged in the commission of both crimes. The same codefendant participated with the Defendant in the perpetration of both crimes. The Defendant was convicted of this armed robbery six days after he was sentenced to death for the murder of Deputy Greeney. This Court finds that the prejudicial effect of this subsequent conviction and the underlying facts substantial. Not only does this subsequent conviction again establish that the Defendant is a recidivist, the conviction also shows that the Defendant is a recidivist-robber who committed his last armed robbery thirteen days before he murdered John Greeney, during the course of another armed robbery.

(PCR 789-790). The trial court further explained that in assessing the impact of this "new" robbery conviction on the jury's recommendation it also took into account the impact of the jury's consideration of the (since vacated) indecent assault, the entire record below, as well as the mitigation evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR 784, 788-790).

Armstrong contends that the trial court's analysis was legally flawed in two aspects. Relying on Rogers, supra, Armstrong contends that the Court erred in considering his subsequent conviction for armed robbery. Appellant alleges that the trial court's analysis was merely speculation and premised on erroneous assumptions. Additionally, he alleges that the trial court failed to consider the effect that the guilty plea for indecent assault had on the jury. The court's harmless error analysis amounted to an improper assumption that the jury would have viewed the robbery conviction as compelling as the quilty plea and would have done so irrespective of the additional mitigating presented at the evidentiary hearing. Armstrong further explains that since the jury did not know that the indecent assault conviction was invalid, and the judge specifically referenced the testimony of the victim Ms. Flynch in its order, the weighing process was skewed to the extent that the error now becomes a structural defect. Armstrong's arguments are legally erroneous. The trial court properly found that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In its analysis, the trial court correctly distinguished <u>Rogers</u> and properly considered the impact the subsequent robbery conviction would have on a jury. Armstrong's contention that the court improperly relied upon the robbery as it was nothing more than mere speculation is incorrect as trial courts as the

fact finders are required to assess the impact of "never before heard evidence" in collateral proceedings. Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997). That process is not considered a speculative task. To the contrary, evidentiary hearings in postconviction litigation is where all speculation dissipates and new proposed evidence is tested. It is tested for its credibility, and its relevancy. Indeed in most claims that are cognizable for postconviction review, trial courts are consistently required to assess what impact <u>new evidence would</u> have on a jury. For instance, in order to be granted a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, "the newly discovered evidence must be of such a nature that it wold probably produce an acquittal on retrial." Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991). The trial court's decision that it could consider the additional robbery conviction in the harmless error analysis was correct.

In that analysis, the trial court explained its rationale for concluding that the additional armed robbery conviction would have a greater impact upon the jury than the prior indecent assault charge. (PCR 788-779). The court's reliance on the fact that Armstrong was a repeat robber was a reasonable consideration. The state would point out that in addition to the fact that appellant is a recidivist robber, Armstrong's propensity for robbing local businesses would further undermine

his proposed penalty phase theme that he fears police officers and his organic brain damage preclude him from being able to plan out non-routine events such as robberies. The trial court correctly considered the 1991 robbery conviction in its harmless error assessment and correctly determined that any error in relying on the 1985 indecent assault was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Cf. Blanco v. State, 452 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1984) (finding remand for resentencing pointless when defendant was reconvicted of the vacated prior conviction as judge could again consider the conviction in aggravation); see also Preston, 564 So. 2d at 123 (Fla. 1990); <u>Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So. 2d 313, 316 (Fla. 1993)(finding Johnson v. Mississippi claim to be harmless error given ample independent support for the aggravating factor); Buenoano v. State, 708 So. 2d 941, 952 (Fla. 1998)(same); Stano v. State, 708 So. 2d 271, 275 (Fla. 1998(same).

In further support of his argument that the <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>Mississippi</u> was not harmless, Armstrong relied on <u>Duest v.</u> <u>Singletary</u>, 997 F.2d 1336 (11th Cir. 1993), <u>Preston v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1993). However the facts of all three cases are clearly distinguishable from the instant case.

The Eleventh Circuit found harmful error in <u>Duest</u>, based on the following: the jury had recommended death by a margin of

one, 7-5 and there was sufficient mitigation to preclude a judge's override of a jury's life recommendation; the jury requested to see the evidence in support of the prior violent felonies during their deliberations; the vacated charge was for armed assault with intent to commit murder which made Duest look like a recidivist killer; and there were no additional violent convictions to support the aggravating factor. <u>Duest</u> 997 F.2d at 1339-1340.

In granting postconviction relief on a <u>Johnson</u> claim in <u>Rivera</u>, this Court relied on the following: the vacated conviction was an assault on a police officer, which would be considered more prejudicial given the fact that Rivera's potential sentence of death was for the murder of a police officer; the prosecutor emphasized the similarities of the two crimes; the prior conviction became a feature of the case; three of six aggravating factors were vacated; and the jury had only recommended death by a margin of one vote. <u>Rivera</u> 629 So. 2d at 109.

Lastly in <u>Preston</u>, this Court found the <u>Johnson</u> error to be harmful based on the following: <u>two</u> of the four aggravating factors were vacated, including the "prior violent felony aggravator"; the jury's recommendation for death was by a margin of one vote; and the importance of the aggravator was emphasized by the prosecutor.

Initially, the state would note that in all three cases, the jury's vote for death was 7-5 and absent the suspect prior violent felony conviction, the entire aggravator was vacated. Obviously these two factors were essential components in finding harmful error. Notably both of these facts are absent in the instant case. The vote for death here was much more compelling, 9-3, and as discussed in greater detail below, there remained <u>two</u> separate prior violent felonies against <u>two</u> additional victims to satisfy the aggravating factor under consideration. Consequently, Armstrong's reliance on <u>Duest Preston</u> and <u>Rivera</u> are of no moment given the compelling factual distinctions between them and the facts of this case.

As noted above, the trial court stated that it considered the record below in assessing the impact of the indecent assault on the judge and jury. The record illustrates the following. First, the sentencing judge relied <u>upon all three</u> prior violent felonies in support of its finding of the "prior violent felony aggravtor," and not just the indecent assault. Secondly, a review of the prosecutor's closing argument reveals that the indecent assault conviction was never singled out or emphasized in any manner. Indeed it was the senseless murder of Officer Greeney that warranted imposition of the death penalty. It was simply mentioned like any other piece of properly admitted evidence would be referenced. If anything, the prosecutor

placed emphasis on the two obviously more violent convictions perpetrated against victims Allen and Sallustio:

The first one is that the defendant has previously been convicted of a violent felony or the threat of use of violence and the first two I'd like to discuss with you and Judge Coker will instruct you that the two offenses of attempted murder in the first degree , the attempted murder of Deputy Robert Sallustio and the robbery of Kenegral Allen are both violent felonies and although they were contemporaneous convictions, that you can consider them as prior convictions because they are different victims.

In other words, the offense you are considering now is the life or death recommendation for the death of Deputy John W. Greeney III. But there's another two victims, meaning Robert Sallustio and Kenegral Allen because there was а conviction involving offenses against them, you can consider them as previous violent convictions.

The third one is the violent felony against Rose Flynch that happened back in January of 1985. You can take all of that into consideration and you will see and I submit to you, based on the testimony and the evidence, that there is no question, the State has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that aggravating circumstance, the defendant has previously been convicted of a violent felony, attempted murder of Robert Sallustio, the robbery of Kenegral Allen, and the indecent assault on Rose Flynch that you have heard this morning.

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